FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/11/2021 4:21 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

| No.  | 100074-0 |  |
|------|----------|--|
| 110. |          |  |

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 53196-8-II COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

JARRON ELTER, Individually, and as the representative of all Persons similarly situated,

Respondent,

V.

UNITED SERVICES AUTOMOBILE ASSOCIATION, USAA CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY USAA GENERAL INDEMNITY COMPANY, and GARRISON PROPERTY AND CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioners.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

SCHIFF HARDIN LLP

Jay Williams, *PHV to be filed* 233 S. Wacker Dr., Suite 7100 Chicago, Illinois 60606

Tel: (312) 258-5500

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners are United Services Automobile Association, USAA Casualty Insurance Company, USAA General Indemnity Company, and Garrison Property and Casualty Insurance Company.

#### **B. DECISION BELOW**

Petitioners seek review of the published decision of Division II dated May 25, 2021 (the "Decision"). (App.1.) On July 12, 2021, the Court of Appeals denied Petitioners' motion for reconsideration. (App.18.)

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's grant of class certification of an unprecedented loss-of-use ("LOU") class consisting of Petitioners' Washington auto insureds whose vehicles were damaged in accidents. In *Holmes v. Raffo*, 60 Wn.2d 421, 431-32, 374 P.2d 536, 542 (1962), this Court held that "where . . . a plaintiff has not rented a substitute automobile, he is nevertheless entitled to receive, as general damages in the event liability is established, such sum as will compensate him for his inconvenience," and while evidence of the cost of a substitute rental car is relevant and admissible, it cannot be the "measure of damages." Although it is undisputed that there will be no evidence of any class member's "inconvenience" at the classwide trial, the Court of Appeals upheld class certification on the ground that, under *Straka Trucking, Inc. v. Estate of* 

*Peterson*, 98 Wn. App. 209, 211, 989 P.2d 1181 (1999), evidence of the cost of a substitute rental alone is sufficient for a jury to award "inconvenience" damages. The issues presented for review are as follows:

- 1. Whether the Decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with this Court's decision in *Holmes v. Raffo*, when it is undisputed that at the classwide trial there will be no evidence of any class member's inconvenience, and the evidence of the alleged cost of a substitute rental car will therefore become the sole "measure of damages," contrary to *Holmes*.
- 2. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in upholding an LOU class, when it is undisputed that a trial based on the *Holmes* inconvenience standard cannot be certified given the inherently individualized inquiries required to determine whether any class member actually sustained inconvenience and, if so, how that inconvenience should be quantified.
- 3. Whether a classwide trial based on the *Straka* "cost of a substitute rental car" standard would violate the due process rights of the USAA Defendants and the class members, when such a trial would compensate class members who sustained no injury, and possibly undercompensate class members who did.

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### 1. The Class Certification Proceedings

This case involves LOU benefits under the uninsured/underinsured

motorists physical damage coverage ("UMPD") of Petitioners' Washington auto policies. The class was first certified on December 30, 2016 based on the Court of Appeals' *Straka* standard; then vacated by the Court of Appeals due to the inadequacy of the original named plaintiffs, Marissa and David Turk; then recertified by a new trial judge through the "substitution" of the new Plaintiff, Jarron Elter, without determining whether the *Holmes* or *Straka* LOU standard should apply, and without making any other CR 23 findings; and then affirmed by the Court of Appeals in the Decision. (App.1-4, 6-9.) The class is defined as follows:

All USAA insureds with Washington policies . . . where USAA determined the loss to be covered under the Underinsured Motorist (UIM) [UMPD] coverage, and their vehicle suffered a loss requiring repair, or the vehicle was totaled, during which time they were without the use of their vehicle, for a day or more.

Excluded from the proposed Class are . . . those who received payment for substitute transportation from USAA *during* the entire period they were without the use of their vehicle.

(App.6 (emphasis in trial court order).)

In obtaining class certification, Plaintiffs argued that the *Holmes* inconvenience standard did *not* apply and that the court should instead apply the "cost of a substitute rental car" test in *Straka*.<sup>2</sup> Plaintiffs proffered no

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Court of Appeals accepted review in the first round because, among other reasons, the trial court had improperly used the *Straka* test, rather than the *Holmes* inconvenience standard, and class certification would be inappropriate under the *Holmes* standard. (3/10/17 Ruling of Commissioner Bearse at 9-15.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In stark contrast, *before* class certification Plaintiffs argued that the *Holmes inconvenience standard* applied to their individual claims: "Ms. Turk is entitled

evidence of any putative class member's inconvenience under the *Holmes* standard. Nor did they contend that there could *ever* be any evidence of any class member's "inconvenience" presented at a classwide trial. Instead, according to Plaintiffs, the only "evidence" of the class members' alleged LOU at trial would be the cost of a rental vehicle. Indeed, Plaintiffs' expert, Bernard Siskin, admitted that his hypothetical damages model<sup>3</sup> could not take into account a class member's inconvenience. Dr. Siskin conceded that he could not construct a model (1) that would measure a class member's inconvenience; (2) that would identify insureds who did not suffer any compensable LOU (such as those who would not have used their vehicle anyway during the time it was being repaired, *see infra* p. 6); and (3) that could determine whether the alleged "lost time" a car spent in a repair shop was reasonable. (CP 454-459, 462-463, 465, 468-469, 476-478, 492-494.)

The plaintiffs argued for the *Straka* standard because an LOU class based on the *Holmes* inconvenience standard could not be certified, given the inherently individualized issues required to establish whether each class member actually sustained inconvenience, and how much. *See Price v. City* 

-

to loss of use damages, not a rental vehicle." (CP 1139-1141; CP1140 ("[W]hen a Plaintiff does not rent a vehicle, she is nevertheless entitled to receive general damages for inconvenience.").) Yet for class certification, Plaintiffs argued that *Straka* applied—a clear concession that class certification was impossible under *Holmes*. Plaintiffs did not purport to embrace *Holmes* until the second appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Siskin did not actually create a damages model or do any statistical work. (CP 462-463, 493-494.)

of Seattle, No. C03-1365RSL, 2006 WL 2691402, at \*8 (W.D. Wash. Sept. 19, 2006) (class certification improper in LOU cases).

The undisputed evidence was that the USAA Defendants consistently pay for loss of use. (CP 536-537 ¶¶ 7, 13-14.) These benefits can arise from an insured's Rental Reimbursement Coverage and UMPD Coverage. Rental Reimbursement pays for a rental (regardless of fault) for the time reasonably required to return the vehicle to use. Under UMPD, LOU benefits are extended when the other driver is at fault and is uninsured or underinsured. If the insured does not have Rental Reimbursement, but sustained LOU, Defendants extend LOU benefits under UMPD for the entire period of the loss, even if all or a portion of the LOU occurred before UMPD was opened. (CP 537 ¶ 14, 538-539 ¶¶ 19-23.)

These practices were confirmed by a claim file survey. The survey demonstrated that more than 43% of Defendants' insureds actually received a rental vehicle, and that another 36% were offered a rental, but declined; there was no affirmative evidence—of either an offer or lack of an offer—in the remaining 21%. Thus, approximately 80% (possibly more) of Defendants' insureds were offered a rental. (CP 544-545.)<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In his response to the USAA Defendants' motion for reconsideration of the Decision, Plaintiff contended that the Court of Appeals "recognized" that the USAA Defendants did not routinely provide a rental car to their insureds. In fact, the Court of Appeals was noting the first trial court's findings, which were contrary to the undisputed record from the claim file survey. (App.3.)

Defendants also offered undisputed evidence that there are many situations in which an insured will not sustain any LOU at all—an issue that goes not merely to the amount of damages, but also to the existence of damages or injury, which is a liability issue. Insureds often do not suffer a loss of use after an accident, and therefore are not entitled to LOU benefits, for any number of reasons. For example, the insured can choose not to have the car repaired, and instead to pocket the money from Defendants; in that case, the insured retains (i.e., does not "lose") the use of the car. (CP 606 ¶ 30.) Likewise, the insured could have several vehicles and not need a rental—like Mr. Turk, who decided against rental coverage because he had so many vehicles that he would not need a rental in case of an accident. (CP 617.) The insured could have free alternate transportation, such as a loaner from the repair shop. (CP 574.) The insured could be recovering from injuries sustained in the accident and be unable to drive; or the insured's license could have been suspended, leaving the insured legally unfit to drive; or the insured could be on vacation and not using the car while it is in the shop; or the insured might drive the car only on certain days (e.g., weekends), and the car is in the shop only on the days the insured would not be using it, anyway. (CP 605  $\P$  28; CP 545  $\P$  52.) These are not hypothetical scenarios, but are corroborated by the USAA Defendants' claim file survey.

The inherently individualized nature of "inconvenience" was

demonstrated by the case of Ms. Turk, which showed that "inconvenience" is something that requires testimony from the individual insured as to how—if at all—he or she was actually inconvenienced, and it necessarily will vary from person to person. Ms. Turk was a young, single woman who lived with her parents, in a household with multiple cars; who worked with her mother; who was driven to and from work by her parents; and who complained that, because her car was in the shop, she could not run errands, get her hair done, or go to social events without getting rides from friends. (CP 610-616.) Ms. Turk's alleged inconvenience would not be typical to that of, say, a single parent with three children, one car, and a full-time job, or of a person (like Ms. Turk's father) with a garage full of cars.

Despite this undisputed evidence, the trial court certified a class based on the *Straka* LOU standard. As the Court of Appeals found: "[T]he plaintiffs requested certification based on the test for loss of use damages stated in *Straka* . . . , *not the inconvenience test in Holmes* . . . . The trial court adopted the *Straka* loss of use standard." (App.4 (emphasis added).)

The USAA Defendants moved for discretionary review of the class certification decision. The Court of Appeals granted review on the ground that the trial court had applied the wrong LOU standard (*Straka*), and that a class based on the correct LOU standard—the *Holmes* "inconvenience" standard—could not be certified. (3/10/17 Comm'r Ruling at 9-15.)

On December 11, 2018, the Court of Appeals vacated class certification on the grounds that the original named plaintiffs (the Turks) did not satisfy typicality or adequacy. (App.6-7.) On remand, the new trial judge recertified the class based solely on the substitution of Mr. Elter and his alleged adequacy and typicality. (App.8.) The court declined to make findings on the other CR 23 elements—including ruling on the key question whether the *Holmes* inconvenience standard applies—or to consider the undisputed evidence demonstrating that class certification would be impossible under *Holmes*. Thus, the class remained certified on the same bases as those of the original class certification: the *Straka* standard.

#### 2. The Court of Appeals' Decision

The Court of Appeals granted Petitioners' motion for discretionary review and upheld class certification. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the *Holmes* "inconvenience" standard applies to the LOU claims of the class. (App.13.) The court also correctly ruled that the trial court's class certification order was not based on *Holmes*, but rather on the *wrong legal standard*: the *Straka* "cost of a substitute rental" standard. *See supra* p. 7. Yet the Court of Appeals upheld class certification—even though the trial court had applied the wrong LOU standard—because evidence of the cost of a substitute rental car (the *Straka* standard) will be admissible at trial. (App.12.) The Court of Appeals did not acknowledge that it was the only

appellate court to have ever certified an LOU class; nor did it discuss the authorities cited by the USAA Defendants—and by the Commissioner who originally concluded that review should be granted because a class based on the *Holmes* inconvenience standard could not properly be certified. (3/10/17 Comm'r Ruling at 9-15; *Price*, 2006 WL 2691402, at \*8.)

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Nearly 60 years ago, this Court established the *Holmes* "inconvenience" standard as the measure of general damages in LOU cases. The Court of Appeals' unprecedented Decision gutted that precedent and opened the floodgates to class actions that never have been certified before. Absent that departure from this Court's precedent, Plaintiff has no proof of liability or damages, and this action fails. This Court should grant review because (1) the Decision conflicts with *Holmes* (RAP 13.4(b)(1)), (2) the Petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court (RAP 13.4(b)(4)), and (3) a significant question of law under the Due Process Clauses of the United States and Washington Constitutions is involved (RAP 13.4(b)(3)).

The Decision nullifies *Holmes*. Under *Holmes*, evidence of the cost of a rental car is relevant as to whether a plaintiff sustained a compensable loss of use, but it is not the "measure of damages." *Inconvenience* is the measure of damages. This Court clearly distinguished between (1) special

damages—the cost of a substitute rental when the plaintiff actually rented a car—and (2) general damages for inconvenience, which apply when the plaintiff did not incur any special damages by renting a car, but may have suffered inconvenience as a result of the loss of use of the vehicle. To sustain a jury verdict on Plaintiff's LOU claims for inconvenience, there must be evidence of each and every class member's inconvenience.

In this case, however, there will be no evidence *at all* of any class member's inconvenience; the only "evidence" will be the cost of a substitute rental car, as determined by Plaintiff's damages expert using a purely hypothetical aggregate damages model he has yet to create. When the only evidence of LOU will be the cost of a substitute rental car, that standard necessarily becomes the "measure of damages," and any jury award will be for special damages that class members did not incur—which is precisely what *Holmes* prohibits. The Decision would allow for an award to class members who did not sustain any legally cognizable inconvenience injury, and it could undercompensate class members who did—a clear violation of the due process rights of the USAA Defendants and class members.

LOU claims under the *Holmes* standard are highly personal, individualized, and therefore inherently unsuitable for class certification. There is no dispute that whether a class member sustained any inconvenience at all (and, if so, how much) can be determined only by an

individualized inquiry—the very antithesis of classwide adjudication. For good reason, no court had ever certified an LOU class before this case. *See Price*, 2006 WL 2691402, at \*8 (class certification improper in LOU case); 3/10/17 Comm'r Ruling at 9-15 (same).

The Court of Appeals' errors should be corrected now to prevent continued misapplication of this Court's precedent and to avoid years of additional, protracted litigation in this seven-year-old case—before the class is (improperly) notified of class certification, before additional judicial and party resources are expended on this complex case, and before a jury trial takes place based on a legal standard contrary to this Court's precedent.

# 1. The Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts with This Court's Precedent in *Holmes v. Raffo*.

The Decision effectively eliminates this Court's *Holmes* standard in class actions. Although the Court of Appeals correctly held that "inconvenience" must be the "measure of damages" at a classwide jury trial (App.14), the court ruled that evidence of the cost of a substitute rental *alone* would be sufficient to establish inconvenience for all class members (*id.*).

It is undisputed that at a classwide jury trial here, there would be *no* evidence of any class member's "inconvenience" under *Holmes*. That there will be no evidence of class members' inconvenience is not surprising, given the individualized, personal nature of inconvenience. The only

"evidence" would be the alleged cost of a rental vehicle.

With no evidence of class members' inconvenience introduced at trial, the cost of a rental car would be not just "relevant and admissible evidence" of inconvenience. It would be the *only* evidence, and therefore would effectively become the "measure of damages."

This result contradicts *Holmes*, and conflates the *Holmes* distinction between special damages (the cost of a rental car when the plaintiff actually rents one) and general damages (the plaintiff's inconvenience when he or she does not rent a car). In *Holmes* this Court rejected a jury instruction that would have awarded the plaintiffs the cost of a rental car; the Court held that this was an improper instruction for special damages, rather than general damages for inconvenience. 60 Wn.2d at 432 ("This constitutes an instruction for special damages."). Although under *Holmes* the cost of a rental can be evidence of inconvenience, it cannot be the "measure of damages." Otherwise, the jury would be awarding special damages for the cost of a rental when the plaintiff did not actually incur any such special damages, rather than awarding general damages for inconvenience. *Id*.

The Court of Appeals erred by concluding that in *Holmes*, evidence of the cost of a rental car alone, without any evidence of inconvenience, was sufficient for a jury to render a verdict on "inconvenience." (App.12.) In *Holmes*, however, there *was* evidence of the plaintiffs' inconvenience. The

plaintiffs there testified that they were without the use of their car for more than one month; that they typically drove their car 2,000 miles each month; that they used their car for business and pleasure; and that during the month their car was being repaired, they "did without" the use of a car. *Holmes*, 60 Wn.2d at 429. Here, by contrast, no such inconvenience evidence would be presented at trial regarding the alleged injuries of the class members.

The Court of Appeals also erred by ruling that in *Holmes*, the cost of a rental alone "is sufficient for the jury to *award* loss of use damages." (App.12 (emphasis added).) In *Holmes* this Court did state that the cost of a rental was sufficient to "carry this item of damages to the jury," 60 Wn.2d at 432, but this Court did so in the context of ruling that the plaintiffs' failure to rent a car did not preclude them from asking the jury to award general damages for LOU. The full passage from *Holmes*, in context, is as follows:

[T]he right to compensation for loss of use is not dependent upon the owner having hired a substitute automobile during the period when his automobile was being repaired. . . .

. .

We now hold that, where, as here, a plaintiff has not rented a substitute automobile, he is nevertheless entitled to receive, as general damages in the event liability is established, such sum as will compensate him for his inconvenience. Proof of what it reasonably would have cost to hire a substitute automobile is sufficient evidence to carry this item of damages to a jury, but is not the measure of such damages. It is relevant evidence in determining the general damages for inconvenience resulting from loss of use of an automobile.

*Id.* at 431-32 (emphasis added).

Thus, this Court ruled that evidence of the cost of renting a car—even when the plaintiffs did not actually rent one—was sufficient to carry their LOU claim to the jury; in other words, the plaintiffs' failure to rent a car did not *disqualify* them from seeking LOU damages. But this Court clearly held that the cost of a rental could not be the *measure of damages*, and specifically rejected a proposed jury instruction that the cost of a rental was an appropriate "sum as will reasonably compensate" the plaintiffs. That, however, is precisely what would happen at a classwide trial here.

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