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

IV.  ARGUMENT AS TO WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE 
DENIED 

 
 1.  The Appellate Court Correctly Applied   
 Holmes and McCurdy. 
 
 USAA’s petition conflates the distinction between 

liability and damages under Holmes within the context of loss 

of use, falsely asserting that proof of inconvenience is a 

prerequisite to establishing liability.  First, as to liability, the 

vehicle owner must prove a wrongful act.  60 Wn.2d at 429-30.  

Concerning USAA’s “wrongful act”, Plaintiffs’ Complaint 

alleges breach of contract2 based upon USAA’s systematic 

 
2Breach of contract is established as follows: 1) That the 
Defendant entered into a contract with Plaintiff: 2) The terms of 
the contract; 3) That the Defendant breached the contract as 
claimed by the Plaintiff; and 4) That Plaintiff was damaged as a 
result of Defendant's breach.  See Washington Partem Jury 
Instruction WPI 300.02. The purpose of damages in a breach of 
contract action is "not a mere restoration to a former position. 
as in tort, but the awarding of a sum which is the equivalent of 
performance of the bargain-the attempt to place the plaintiff in 
the position he would be in if the contract had been fulfilled .... 
" Rathke v. Roberts, 33 Wn.2d 858, 865, 207 P.2d 716 (1949).   
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failure to disclose and pay compensation to the Class Members 

for the loss of use of their vehicle.  (CP at 187; 189 – 190; 192).   

 Next, upon proof of a “wrongful act” (here, a breach of 

contract), a plaintiff must present evidence of damages.  

Holmes, 60 Wn.2d at 431-32.  The Holmes Court was required 

to consider the “perplexing problem” whether of proof of 

damages (i.e., the right to compensation for loss of use) should 

be “dependent upon the owner having hired a substitute 

automobile during the period when his automobile was being 

repaired.”  Id.  The Holmes Court determined that it should not, 

as “we would be placing upon recovery a condition of financial 

 

As to damages, Plaintiff’s Complaint does not seek additional 
damages for “inconvenience” beyond a rental car, instead 
alleging at ¶ 5.13 that  

 
USAA's records will also show the period that its 
insureds in the Class were without their vehicles, 
as well as the average payment for a substitute 
automobile during the Class period. As such 
both liability and damages can be shown on a 
Class wide basis with common evidence 
 

CP 191.  (Bolding added).   
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ability to hire another automobile to take the place of the 

injured automobile.”  Id.  To do so would be to deny a plaintiff 

“compensation for his inconvenience resulting from the 

defendant's wrongful act.”  Id.; (citing Pittari v. Madison Ave. 

Coach Co., 188 Misc. 614, 68 N.Y.S.2d 741 (1947)).     

 Having determined the right to compensation for loss of 

use is not dependent upon the owner having hired a substitute 

automobile, the Holmes Court then considered the following 

jury instruction: 

If your verdict is in favor of plaintiffs, Frank S. 
Holmes and Neva A. Holmes, then in assessing the 
amount of recovery you will award them such sum 
as will reasonably compensate them for being 
deprived of the use of their automobile during the 
time necessarily consumed in repairing the damage 
proximately resulting from the accident. That sum 
is the reasonable rental or use value of the 
automobile for the period of time just mentioned.  
[Italics in original]. 
 

This Court rejected the last sentence on the basis that it 

constituted “an instruction for special damages.”  It reasoned 

that had the last sentence of the instruction been deleted, the 
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remainder could properly have been given as it applied to 

general damages.”  Id. at 432.  The jury instruction with the last 

sentence deleted would have constituted the “appropriate 

language in a general damage instruction upon the remand for a 

new trial on this issue.”  Id.   

 Nowhere did the Holmes Court condone or require that a 

jury instruction include language to require a plaintiff to 

demonstrate or prove “inconvenience.”  Instead, it stated that 

one way to prove such loss is through evidence of “the 

reasonable rental or use value of the automobile.”  Id.  In this 

case, the Appellate Court correctly observed the distinction 

between the requirement of proof of a wrongful act versus what 

proof may be considered in establishing the amount of 

compensation for loss of use.  Slip Opp. at 11 – 12.  The 

Appellate Court then correctly observed that Straka does not 

state “a different measure of damages”, but states “one way a 

plaintiff can prove loss of use damages,” that being; “by 
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submitting evidence regarding the cost of renting a substitute 

vehicle.”  Id. at 13.    

 The Appellate Court also correctly observed that under 

Holmes, (Slip Opp. at 12), “it is significant that . . . evidence of 

the cost of a rental vehicle is admissible at trial and is sufficient 

for the jury to award loss of use damages.  60 Wn.2d at 432.”  

The Appellate Court correctly summarized Straka’s holding 

that one method of proving damages in a loss of use claim is 

through evidence of the cost of a rental.  Slip Opp. at 13.  

 USAA’s petition, which references the term 

“inconvenience” 81 times in 18 pages, centers on the false 

premise that loss of use damages cannot be established without 

proof of “inconvenience.”  As the Appellate Court correctly 

observed, this premise is contradicted by Holmes and Straka: 

“[i]n other words, Straka stated that one method of proving loss 

of use damages is evidence of the cost of a rental, but it did not 

state that this was the sole method.  98 Wn. App. at 211.”  Slip 

Opp. at 13.   USAA’s argument is also inconsistent with 
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McCurdy, decided four years after Holmes, wherein the word 

“inconvenience” is nowhere found, but this Court (discussing 

Holmes) held that the reasonable “rental value of a motor 

vehicle” was recoverable during the period of repair.  68 Wn.2d 

470. 

 The Appellate Court’s reading of Holmes’ and Straka’s 

damages analysis also comports with the Restatement (Second) 

of Torts § 931 (1979) which provides as follows: 

If one is entitled to a judgment for the detention of, 
or for preventing the use of, land or chattels, the 
damages include compensation for 
(a) the value of the use during the period of 
detention or prevention or the value of the use of 
or the amount paid for a substitute, and 
(b) harm to the subject matter or other harm of 
which the detention is the legal cause. 
 

As comment (b) to § 931 explains, 
 

b. The owner of the subject matter is entitled to 
recover as damages for the loss of the value of the 
use, at least the rental value of the chattel or 
land during the period of deprivation. This is 
true even though the owner in fact has suffered no 
harm through the deprivation, as when he was not 
using the subject matter at the time or had a 
substitute that he used without additional expense 
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to him. The use to which the chattel or land is 
commonly put and the time of year in which the 
detention or deprivation occurs are, however, to be 
taken into consideration as far as these factors bear 
upon the value of the use to the owner or the rental 
value.  (Italics and Bolding added). 
 

 Holmes holds that proof of the cost of a rental is 

sufficient evidence to bring the item of damages to the jury.  60 

Wn.2d at 432.  Straka does not require such evidence, 

providing a list of how loss of use may be measured in the 

disjunctive: “‘[l]oss of use may be measured by (1) lost profit, 

(2) cost of renting a substitute chattel, (3) rental value of the 

plaintiff’s own chattel, or (4) interest.’”  98 Wn. App. at 211 

(underlining added).  In describing these four measures of 

damages, the Straka Court quoted Dobbs, Law of Remedies: 

Damages - Equity - Restitution §5.15(1), at 875 (2d ed. 1993)).  

In the sentence immediately after the quoted text, Dobbs 

observes that “In addition, some authority appears to allow 

damages based upon the unquantifiable inconvenience to the 

plaintiff, at least in the case of private motor vehicles.”  Id.; 
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(Underlining added).  When the two sentences are read together 

it is clear that the various measures of loss of use are available 

separately.  In other words, “inconvenience” can be sought, but 

so can the rental value of the automobile. 

 The Appellate Court correctly observed that Straka is 

consistent with Holmes in its description of the different 

methods of proving damages for loss of use.  USAA’s argument 

at p. 14 that “Straka did not resolve how LOU damages are 

measured because . . . the issue in Straka was whether LOU 

damages can be recovered at all when the vehicle was 

destroyed, as opposed to merely damaged” is false.  The Straka 

court observed that “[i]n this case, we are concerned with loss 

of use before the tortfeasor pays, or, in alternative terms, with 

loss of use from the date of the accident to the date on which 

the tortfeasor pays (or tenders) the full value of the destroyed 

property.”  98 Wn. App. at 213–14.  Straka therefore makes 

clear that Loss of Use damages are available in instances where 

vehicles have been destroyed or declared total losses, 
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presenting no conflict with Holmes and no problem to class 

members in this case.             

 Neither Holmes nor Straka support USAA’s contention 

that its insureds must present evidence of “inconvenience” in 

the first instance to be then somehow valued by a trier of fact.  

Nor, as noted earlier, does McCurdy, (supra), decided four 

years after Holmes, which does not mention “inconvenience” 

while quoting and discussing Holmes, stating instead that the 

“recovery may be had for the loss of use or rental value of a 

motor vehicle is generally held to be that which is reasonably 

required for the making of repairs or that within which the 

vehicle could be repaired with ordinary diligence.”  Id. at 470. 

That evidence of the cost of a rental car can be submitted 

to support loss of use is also consistent with that of other 

Washington Courts.  For example, in DePhelps, 116 Wn. App. 

441, the court stated that “[a] claim of loss of use of a car was 

insufficient to sustain an award of damages absent any proof of 

the value of such use per day or week, or the cost to rent 
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another car for the same uses during the same time.”  Id. at 

1239 (citing Norris v. Hadfield, 124 Wn. 198, 203, 213 P. 934 

(1923)). 

USAA argues at page 9 that “inconvenience is the 

measure of damages.”  There is no support in Holmes, Straka 

McCurdy or DePhelps for this contention.  While Holmes treats 

rental value as such “evidence,” nothing in the opinion requires 

a showing of “inconvenience” as a prerequisite to recovery.  

Moreover, nothing in the pattern jury instruction (WPI 30.16)3 

requires a showing of “inconvenience,” nor can this be 

reconciled with RCW 4.56.250(1)(a), which specifically defines 

economic (not consequential) damages to include “loss of use 

of property.”   As Dobbs observes, “[a]lthough the reasonable 

cost of a substitute [chattel] is the measure of the loss of use in 

the eyes of some courts, in others it is merely evidence of the 

 
3 “Reasonable compensation for any loss of use of any damaged 
property during the time reasonably required for its [repair] 
[replacement].”  WPI 30.16 
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rental value of the plaintiff’s own chattel, or evidence of his 

inconvenience.”  Id. at §5.15(2), at p. 879. 

2.   No Public Interest or Due Process    
  Issues Are Presented. 

 
a. Certification Was Appropriate 

 
As shown above, and in section b, infra, Holmes does not 

make this case unsuitable for class certification.  The Appellate 

Court properly upheld the certification of this matter as a class 

action.  (Slip Opp. at 13 – 16).  The Appellate Court analyzed 

and determined the grant of class certification was well within 

the “manifest abuse of discretion”.  (Slip Opp. at 13; citing 

Lacey Nursing Ctr., Inc. v. Dep’t of Revenue, 128 Wn.2d 40, 

47, 905 P.2d 338 (1995)).   

First, as to CR 23’s commonality requirement, the 

Appellate Court correctly determined that adherence to Holmes 

does not defeat commonality, correctly noting that USAA’s 

common failure to pay compensation for loss of use satisfies 

the requirement.  Slip Opp. at 14.  Contrary to USAA’s 
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repeated arguments, the Appellate Court correctly refused to 

blur the distinction between liability and damages, observing 

that “the fact that the individual loss of use damages vary in 

amount does not defeat commonality.”  Id.; (citing Chavez v. 

Our Lady of Lourdes Hosp. at Pasco, 190 Wn.2d 507, 519, 415 

P.3d 224 (2018)). 

Second, the Appellate Court also correctly determined 

that predominance requirement had been satisfied, noting that 

the difference in the amount of class members’ loss of use 

damages “does not defeat the point that USAA did not pay its 

insureds loss of use damages.”  (Id. at 15; (citing Chavez, 190 

Wn.2d at 518-19)). 

Third, the decision correctly determined that superiority4 

had been established, noting that in a class size ranging between 

6,000 and 11,000 USAA insures who were not paid loss of use 

 
4 USAA’s petition does not argue, as it did to the Appellate 
Court, that the Superior Court erred in certifying the class 
without being presented a “valid trial plan.” 
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under their Underinsured Motorist Property Damage 

(“UMPD”) coverage, a class action would be “a fair and 

efficient adjudication of the action, superior to conducting 

individualized inquiries.”  Id. at 16. 

USAA has consistently blurred/conflated the distinction 

between a) its liability for breach of contract (its “wrongful 

conduct) in failing to disclose coverage for, and then pay loss of 

use, under its UMPD coverage, and b) the Class Members’ 

resulting damages.  The Appellate Court correctly recognized 

this basic distinction.  Nothing about this case demonstrates its 

unsuitability as a class action.  As the Appellate Court correctly 

determined, the grant of class certification was well within the 

Superior Court’s discretion.  

b.   The Appellate Decision Does Not Relieve   
  Plaintiffs of the Obligation to Prove Liability  

 
Holmes requires that a vehicle owner prove a wrongful 

act to establish compensation for loss of use damages.  60 

Wn.2d at 429-30.  Here, the alleged “wrongful act” is USAA’s 
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common breach of contract: “[w]hether USAA breached its 

contracts of insurance with the Class by failing to pay loss of 

use damages.”  CP 190 (Complaint at ¶5.7).  This issue is 

common to all class members since the same UMPD insuring 

agreement language applies to all class members, and USAA’s 

obligations under the insuring agreement are identical to each 

class member.  The determination of USAA’s liability will 

result therefrom.     

 Ignoring the above, USAA improperly conflates liability, 

based upon the contractual obligation under the insuring 

agreement to "pay compensatory damages which a covered 

person is legally entitled to recover from the owner or operator 

of an underinsured motor vehicle" (CP184), with the resulting 

damages (i.e., the amount of compensation due to each Class 

Member) in the event liability is established on the merits.   

  If the Class Members prove USAA's liability, they must 

then prove their damages.  Here, as in Leyva v. Medline Indus. 

Inc., 716 F.3d 510, 514 (9th Cir. 2013), damages will be 
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calculated based on the unpaid loss of use compensation 

resulting from USAA’s unlawful practices.  716 F.3d at 514.  

Consistent with Leyva, the Plaintiff would show (when the 

matter reaches its merits) that Class Members’ damages 

stemmed from the USAA's wrongful conduct (breach of 

contract) which created the legal liability.   

The damage calculation is separate and distinct from 

USAA’s liability to its insureds.  Nothing in the Appellate 

Court decision relieves a Plaintiff, individually or through 

representative evidence on behalf of a class, from the 

requirement of proving damages (i.e., non-compensation) for 

loss of use.  At the class certification hearing, Plaintiff 

demonstrated that proof of damages could be made from 

USAA’s own records: the Trial Court, in support of its findings 

of CR23 numerosity, predominance and manageability, relied 

upon the information gathered by USAA in its sample of 500 

UMPD claims files (Exhibits 1 and 2 in the designation of 
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Clerks Papers) which was then analyzed by Plaintiff’s expert 

(CP766-771) and shown to the Court during oral argument.   

The Superior Court noted in certifying the class that 

“[t]he data contained in this Spreadsheet was extensively 

discussed at the hearing as it related to the issues of 

ascertainability, the ability to address damages, and any 

affirmative defenses using common evidence.”  CP908-9.  The 

Superior Court expressly found that the data USAA compiled in 

the sample of 500 claims demonstrated how CR 23’s 

numerosity (CP912-913), predominance (CP916-917) and

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